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First Prosecution in the United States for Torture Committed Abroad:
The Trial of Charles ‘Chuckie’ Taylor, Jr.
by Elise Keppler, Shirley Jean, and J. Paxton Marshall*

O

Introduction

December 6, 2006, the United States Department of
Justice indicted Charles “Chuckie” Taylor, Jr., son of
former Liberian President Charles Taylor, for committing torture in Liberia. The case, which is scheduled to go to
trial in September 2008, is significant on a number of levels.
First, it stands in contrast to what has been widespread impunity for human rights violations in Liberia. Second, the charges
are brought under a U.S. federal law that has been unique in
its criminalization of human rights violations committed outside U.S. territory. Third, although torture committed abroad
has been a crime in the United States for more than a decade,
the case against Chuckie Taylor is the first prosecution for the
crime.
Human rights advocates hope that this case will be the first
of many in the United States. All too often, national courts in
countries where torture and other serious human rights violations
have been committed have little or no capacity to prosecute such
crimes. International and hybrid international-national criminal
tribunals play a crucial role in closing the “impunity gap” in
such situations, but their jurisdiction and resources remain
limited. U.S. federal prosecutions of serious crimes committed
abroad, along with similar prosecutions by other countries, can
thus make a vital contribution to ensuring that perpetrators of
atrocities face justice.
This article will discuss 1) the U.S. federal law that makes
it a crime to commit torture abroad; 2) the case against Chuckie
Taylor for alleged torture committed in Liberia; 3) important
developments to date in the case against Taylor, Jr.; and 4)
ensuring more prosecutions of this kind in the future.
n

* Elise Keppler is senior counsel at Human Rights Watch’s Inter
national Justice Program (IJP). Shirley Jean and J. Paxton Marshall
are associates at Weil, Gotshal & Manges, LLP. Human Rights
Watch has for years documented human rights violations committed
in Liberia. After Chuckie Taylor was taken into custody and indicted
for a passport violation in the United States in 2006, Human Rights
Watch pressed for an investigation with a view to his prosecution
for torture and war crimes committed in Liberia. Following Chuckie
Taylor’s indictment for torture in December 2006, Weil, Gotshal &
Manges LLP has provided ongoing, invaluable pro bono assistance to
the IJP in monitoring and analyzing developments in the case.

The Extraterritorial Torture Law
Elements of the Law
The law criminalizing torture abroad is codified at 18 U.S.C.
§§ 2340 and 2340A (the “Extraterritorial Torture Statute”). 18
U.S.C. § 2340A(a) states:
Whoever outside the United States commits or attempts to
commit torture shall be fined under this title or imprisoned
not more than 20 years, or both, and if death results to any
person from conduct prohibited by this subsection, shall be
punished by death, or imprisoned for any term of years or
for life.

Torture is defined under the statute as:
[A]n act committed by a person acting under the color of
law specifically intended to inflict severe physical or mental
pain or suffering (other than pain or suffering incidental to
lawful sanctions) upon another person within his custody or
physical control.

Notably, the statute prohibits torture committed not only by US
citizens, but by non-citizens present in the United States. 18
U.S.C. § 2340A(b) states:
There is jurisdiction over the activity prohibited in subsection (a) if (1) the alleged offender is a national of the United
States; or (2) the alleged offender is present in the United
States, irrespective of the nationality of the victim or alleged
offender.

As such, the Extraterritorial Torture Statute operates on the basis
of universal jurisdiction, whereby certain crimes, due to their
gravity, may be prosecuted in any state. Universal jurisdiction
laws exist, and are increasingly applied, in a number of countries, especially in Europe.1
The Extraterritorial Torture Statute has nevertheless been
exceptional in its jurisdictional reach among U.S. federal laws
relating to human rights violations. For example, until last year,
genocide was only punishable if committed within the United
States or by a U.S. national. War crimes remain punishable only
if the victim or alleged perpetrator is a U.S. national or member
of the U.S. armed forces.2

Legislative History ofo the Extraterritorial
Torture Statute
The Extraterritorial Torture Statute was passed in order to
implement U.S. obligations as a state party to the Convention
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bill and a subsequent one were not adopted. The following
year, another bill to implement the CAT, H.R. 933, was reintroduced in the House of Representatives. Nevertheless, it
was not until April 30, 1994 that the House and the Senate
passed the Extraterritorial Torture Statute as section 506 of the
Foreign Relations Authorization Act, Fiscal Years 1994 and
1995. Pursuant to the legislation and Article 27 of the CAT, the
Extraterritorial Torture Statute went into effect on November
20, 1994, thirty days after the United States ratified CAT.
Following its enactment, not a single indictment under the
Extraterritorial Torture Statute was issued until the case against
Chuckie Taylor twelve years later. During this period, the UN
Committee Against Torture expressed disappointment that no
prosecutions had been initiated and urged the United States to
take effective measures to prosecute torturers under the law.

The Case Against Chuckie Taylor for Torture
Background
Human Rights Watch Photo/Corinne Dufka

Chuckie Taylor is the Boston-born son of former Liberian
president Charles Taylor. Taylor became president in 1997
following an eight-year conflict in which there was an implicit
threat that the rebel force Taylor headed would resume fighting
unless Taylor were elected. Soon after his father was inaugurated, Chuckie Taylor went to Liberia to head a newly established elite pro-government military unit, the Anti-Terrorist Unit
(ATU).
The ATU was initially used to protect government buildings, the international airport, and foreign embassies. In 1999,
the ATU’s responsibilities were expanded, however, to include
combat and other war-related duties after rebels began operating
in Liberia.
During Chuckie Taylor’s tenure as head of the ATU, the unit
was notorious for human rights abuses. According to reporting
by Human Rights Watch and Amnesty International, the unit
committed torture, including violent assaults, beating people to
death, rape, and burning civilians alive. The unit also committed war crimes, including extrajudicial killing of civilians and
prisoners, rape and other torture, abduction, and child soldier
recruitment during Liberia’s armed conflict from 1999 to 2003.

Sierra Leonean rebels from the Revolutionary United Front and Armed
Forces Revolutionary Council in Monrovia, Liberia.

Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman, or Degrading
Treatment or Punishment (CAT). Article 5 of the CAT requires
that State’s Parties prosecute torture regardless of where it is
committed when alleged perpetrators are in their territory.
The CAT was adopted by the United Nations (UN) General
Assembly in 1984 and entered into force in 1987. On April 18,
1988, U.S. President Ronald Reagan signed the CAT, and on
October 27, 1990 the US Senate gave its advice and consent to
ratify the treaty with several reservations, understandings, and
declarations.
In March 1992, President George H.W. Bush called on Con
gress to enact legislation implementing the CAT when signing
the Torture Victim Protection Act of 1991, and on September
24, 1992, Representative Dante B. Fascell introduced a bill,
H.R. 6017, to do just that. The House of Representatives passed
the bill and referred it to the Senate. Recognizing Congress’s
delay in implementing the CAT following the Senate’s advice
and consent to ratification, one of the bill’s co-sponsors,
Representative Gus Yatron, urged Congress to ratify the CAT
before the 1993 World Conference on Human Rights.
On October 7, 1992, Senator Joseph R. Biden introduced
an amendment to a larger crime bill in the Senate, S.3349,
that incorporated the language from the House bill, but this
http://digitalcommons.wcl.american.edu/hrbrief/vol15/iss3/4

The Charges Against Chuckie Taylor:
From Passport Fraud to Torture
Chuckie Taylor was taken into U.S. custody in March 2006
after attempting to enter the United States at Miami International
Airport. He was charged a month later with using a U.S. passport which he had obtained through false statements in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1542.3 Specifically, he allegedly lied about
the identity of his father on his passport application. Notably,
Charles Taylor had been surrendered the previous day to the
Special Court for Sierra Leone to face charges of war crimes
and crimes against humanity committed during Sierra Leone’s
decade-long conflict that ended in 2002.
With Chuckie Taylor in U.S. custody, human rights organizations, including Human Rights Watch, publicly called for an
investigation with a view to his prosecution for torture and war
crimes committed in Liberia. This request was made because
an investigation was believed to be not only crucial for victims
in Liberia, but also necessary to demonstrate U.S. commitment
to apply laws prohibiting human rights violations committed
19
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abroad. Human Rights Watch also submitted a memorandum
to the Department of Justice regarding serious abuses in which
Chuckie Taylor is implicated.
In September 2006, Chuckie Taylor pleaded guilty to
the passport violation. He was scheduled to be sentenced on
December 7, 2006, which could have led to his release soon
thereafter.4 One day prior to the sentencing, however, a federal
grand jury indicted him for torture in Liberia.5 The indictment charged Taylor with one count of torture, one count of
conspiracy to torture, and one count of using a firearm during
the commission of a violent crime in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§
2340-2340A. The initial indictment alleged that in conducting
an interrogation in 2002, Chuckie Taylor and his co-conspirators
repeatedly burned a victim at gun-point, with scalding water
and a hot iron; shocked various parts of the victim’s body; and
rubbed salt into the victim’s wounds.

“For the United States
to play its role in ensuring
justice for the victims of
atrocities, . . . it is vital that
such prosecutions become
a much more regular
occurrence.”
While the original indictment was based on the alleged
torture of a single victim, six more victims and one new count,
conspiracy to use a firearm during a crime of violence, have
been added to the charges in two superseding indictments. The
superseding indictments also include allegations that between
1999 and 2003, Taylor summarily shot three victims selected
at random from a group of rebels; locked a group of individuals
in a hole in the ground covered with iron bars and barbed wire;
ordered the execution of numerous individuals; ordered cutting
the genitals of prisoners; and committed numerous acts of burning and shocking body parts of prisoners.

Important Developments in the Case Against
Chuckie Taylor for Torture
Whether before international or national courts, it is vital that
trials of serious crimes under international law be fair and effective consistent with international standards. As the first-ever
prosecution for torture committed abroad, not surprisingly, the
case against Chuckie Taylor has been characterized by extensive
pre-trial motion practice. Some of the filings raise issues that
have important implications for this prosecution and future cases

of this kind in the United States. Several of the most notable of
the filings are discussed below. They relate to the constitutionality of the federal torture statute; ensuring respect for the rights of
the accused, including the right to adequate time to prepare; and
the protection of victims and witnesses.

Constitutionality of the Extraterritorial
Torture Statute
Adequate laws are central to prosecution of human rights violations. Chuckie Taylor’s defense has filed many motions arguing that the case should be dismissed because the Extraterritorial
Torture Statute is unconstitutional. In these motions, the defense
challenges the U.S. government’s authority to enact a statute
that seeks to oversee “the internal and wholly domestic actions
of a foreign government.” 6
The court has rejected the defense’s claims, holding that
the Extraterritorial Torture Statute is a proper exercise of
Congressional authority to implement binding treaty obligations
and to define offenses against the law of nations. In upholding
the constitutionality of the statute, the court makes the following
noteworthy observations:
The prohibition against official torture has attained the status of a jus cogens norm, not merely the status of customary
international law . . . . It is beyond peradventure that torture
and acts that constitute cruel, inhuman or degrading punishment, acts prohibited by jus cogens, are similarly abhorred
by the law of nations.7

In rejecting the defense’s arguments, the court nevertheless
based some of its reasoning on the fact that the defendant is
a U.S. citizen. Accordingly, a future constitutional challenge
to the statute may yet raise issues of first impression if a noncitizen is facing prosecution. The constitutionality of the statute
also may be raised in any appeal in the Chuckie Taylor case.
A secondary argument raised in these motions is that international law does not recognize conspiracy as a criminal offense
and that the CAT does not provide a basis to prosecute conspiracy to torture, which was added to 18 U.S.C. § 2340A by
the USA Patriot Act of 2001. The court rejected this argument,
finding that the conspiracy provision of the statute is proper
given its consistency with the CAT.8

Victim Witness Protection and Ensuring Rights of
the Accused
In prosecutions of serious crimes, witnesses, some of whom
may be victims, can face serious security, psychological,
and physical challenges related to their appearance in court.
Measures must therefore be taken to protect the physical and
mental well-being of these individuals. Such measures must not,
however, compromise the fundamental rights of the accused,
including the right to prepare his or her defense. At international
and hybrid international-national criminal tribunals, protection
measures have included restricting the disclosure of identities
through the use of pseudonyms and holding certain proceedings
in closed session.
Disclosure of the identities of the victims and witnesses has
been a major issue in the Chuckie Taylor case. The U.S. government did not name the alleged victims or co-conspirators in
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The defense initially based its
requests on the need to address
novel and unique legal issues
in the case and new allegations
following the issuance of the
superseding indictments. Later,
the defense focused on the difficulties of conducting investigations in Liberia. These difficulties include the remote location
of potential witnesses; the poor
condition of roads; limitations
on movement due to safety; and
overall lack of infrastructure such
as electricity, running water, and
telecommunication services. The
court has granted each of the
requests for postponement on the basis that the “interests of justice . . . outweigh any interest of the public or the [d]efendant in
a speedy trial.” The court has indicated, however, that no further
postponements will be granted. The trial is now scheduled to
start on September 15, 2008, approximately 19 months after the
initially scheduled start date.16

Fighters with the National Patriotic Front of Liberia, led by Charles
Taylor, in Monrovia, Liberia.

the indictments and resisted requests by the defense to disclose
their identities without restrictions. The defense argued that the
U.S. government was impeding its ability to prepare by failing
to allege sufficient facts in the indictment, while the government
argued that the indictment alleged sufficient facts by describing
the alleged acts of torture and providing the locations where
they occurred.9 The U.S. government also raised concerns that
disclosing identities of the victims and witnesses early in the
case could create the risk of retaliatory attacks and jeopardize
the safety of witnesses in Liberia.10
The court held that an indictment need not include victim and
co-conspirator identities to give the defendant adequate notice
of the charges against him.11 In a separate ruling, however, the
court held that the defendant is entitled to know the victims’
identities.12 The court then ordered the government to reveal the
identities of victim witnesses and their attorneys, along with the
names of any co-conspirators known to the government, subject
to limited protections, including non-disclosure to the public.13
Notably, despite arguments over disclosure of victim identities,
the identity of the victim in the original indictment was unintentionally publicly disclosed by the victim’s own attorney in a
court filing in June 2007.14
Disclosure of the identities of witnesses the government
intends to call who are not described in the indictment are subject to different limitations. Specifically, such disclosure must
be made to the defense only three calendar weeks before trial.15

Ensuring Future U.S. Prosecutions
Alleged Human Rights Violations
Committed Abroad

of

The significance of the prosecution of Chuckie Taylor for
torture committed abroad has not been lost on U.S. officials.
On the issuance of the indictment, Assistant Attorney General
Alice Fisher of the Department of Justice said, “This marks
the first time the Justice Department has charged a defendant
with the crime of torture . . . . Crimes such as these will not go
unanswered.” Julie L. Myers, Department of Homeland Security
Assistant Secretary for Immigration and Customs Enforcement,
said, “This is a clear message that the United States will not be
a safe haven for human rights violators.”17
This September’s trial will be an important moment. For the
United States to play its role in ensuring justice for the victims
of atrocities, however, it is vital that such prosecutions become
a much more regular occurrence.
Whether the case against Chuckie Taylor will be the first of
many in the United States remains an open question. In recent
years, the Departments of Justice and Homeland Security have
taken important steps to enhance efforts to prosecute human
rights violations committed abroad. Such steps include the
creation of an ad hoc interagency working group to increase
coordination among the many agencies involved in avoiding
allowing safe haven for human rights violators in the United
States. The Department of Justice also has a subdivision, the
Domestic Security Section, which focuses on investigating
and prosecuting human rights violations committed abroad.
Designating primary responsibility for such cases within one
section is important. Western European practice suggests that
concentration of relevant expertise in specialized units is one
of the most important elements in the successful prosecution of
these types of cases.18
Given such efforts, it is in some respects surprising that there
has been only a single U.S. prosecution for torture committed

Adequate Time to Prepare a Defense
Adequate time to prepare a defense is a fundamental right
under international fair trial standards, as enshrined in Article
14 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights.
Cases involving serious crimes are complex, and requests for
additional time to prepare have arisen before international and
hybrid criminal tribunals. What constitutes adequate time in a
specific case depends on a variety of factors, including the difficulty of the case and the amount of material to be reviewed.
Chuckie Taylor’s defense has made several requests to postpone the start of his trial to allow additional time to prepare.
http://digitalcommons.wcl.american.edu/hrbrief/vol15/iss3/4
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“According to U.S. authorities, a number of
investigations [into torture committed abroad] have been
initiated and ‘although criminal charges have not been
brought, [] immigration charges have resulted.’ ”
abroad. According to U.S. authorities, a number of investigations have been initiated and “although criminal charges have
not been brought, [] immigration charges have resulted.”19
The dearth of cases is due at least in part to the significant
challenges of investigation and prosecution of serious crimes
committed abroad. Analysis of similar cases in Western Europe
suggests that such cases involve major difficulties caused by any
mix of several factors, including language barriers; complex and
unfamiliar political and historical contexts; the need for evidence
that is tough to track down and obtain access to; the importance
of conducting extraterritorial investigations to identify evidence
and witnesses; and having to prove crimes that may never have
been previously adjudicated.
Another challenge relates to the need for witnesses who
may face serious threats if they become involved in a prosecution. Even though the power to protect witnesses remains with
the authorities in the state where the witness is located, at-risk
witnesses must be monitored by the prosecuting authorities to
ensure they do not face harm. A related issue is that witnesses
brought to testify in the forum state may seek asylum. Witness
testimony can be taken abroad through various measures,
including video link. However, if the witness’s evidence is significant, and the witness has a well-founded fear of persecution,
due consideration should be given to asylum claims or to ensuring witness relocation.
Inadequate laws and theories of criminal liability can create
further obstacles. Recent efforts to criminalize genocide and
child recruitment when committed abroad by persons found in
the United States, regardless of nationality, should be applauded.20 The full range of serious crimes under international law
should be punishable on this basis.
Prosecutions should also be brought on all relevant bases
of criminal liability, including the crucial theory of command responsibility. The theory of command responsibility is
often integral to cases against perpetrators who are leaders far
removed from the scenes of crimes. This basis of liability has
been expressly recognized in the U.S. military code, upheld by
the U.S. Supreme Court, and recognized in several civil cases in
federal courts involving human rights violations. Nevertheless,
the Department of Justice has hedged on whether this theory will
be applied in torture cases.21 The charges against Chuckie Taylor
notably involve only his alleged direct involvement in torture,
even though charges based on command responsibility would
seem to have been an obvious option given available information concerning the ATU, which he headed.

A number of the challenges to prosecuting human rights
violations committed abroad have been expressly acknowledged
by U.S. officials.22 How best to overcome them needs increased
attention.
Interest by the recently established Senate Judiciary
Committee’s Subcommittee on Human Rights and the Law is
welcome in this regard. On November 14, 2007, that subcommittee held a first-ever hearing on ensuring that the United States
is not a safe haven for human rights violators. Subcommittee
members expressed an interest in better understanding the difficulties involved in cases against alleged perpetrators so that
Congress can help ensure that the necessary tools are available
to guarantee their successful prosecution. At the same time,
members raised questions as to the extent of the Department
of Justice’s commitment to prosecutions of human rights violations committed abroad, given that there are only about seven
attorneys working for the Domestic Security Section on such
cases.23
One obvious critical element in prosecuting human rights
violations is political will which would include ensuring the
passage and application of appropriate laws and the procurement of adequate resources to conduct effective investigations
where the complexities that are described earlier in this section
exist. Support also is needed to facilitate exchange of information and best practices with practitioners in other countries. The
European Union has established a network of persons who work
on prosecuting serious crimes, and Interpol also has a working
group on such cases.
Congress and the Departments of Justice and Homeland
Security are well placed to intensify scrutiny of the challenges
and to strengthen law and practice to surmount them. This is
essential if perpetrators of heinous abuses are to be held to
account and if the case against Chuckie Taylor is to be more
than an anomaly in US practice.
HRB
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